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I was fortunate enough to make the acquaintance of Mr. Royce and in him I found the man I had been looking for for years.


The Hon. C.S. Rolls


I not only admired him, I was one of the few people who were genuinely fond of him … Henry Royce ruled the lives of the people around him, claimed their body and soul, even when they were asleep.


Ivan Evernden


Everyone who rode with Rolls testifies to the quickness of his reaction, and to the sensation that he was at one with his steed.


Lord Montagu of Beaulieu


The real genius responsible for the wide fame of the Rolls-Royce car is C.J.


Lord Birkenhead


I can say with all sincerity that those who are best able to judge would put you among a very few men whom the country has to thank above all others for our survival in this war.


Air Chief Marshal Sir Charles Portal


[in a letter to Ernest Hives]
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INTRODUCTION



Many books have been written about Rolls-Royce over the years. The Bibliography on pages 325 to 329 shows nearly fifty specifically on Rolls-Royce cars or aero engines or both, and there are hundreds more which devote many words to Rolls-Royce’s products and their importance. However, most of these books are either biographies of the leading personalities, or works that tackle specific aspects of the cars or the aero engines.


The last publication to attempt a comprehensive history of Rolls-Royce was Harold Nockolds’s The Magic of a Name, published by Foulis in 1938 and reprinted several times until a third edition was finally printed in 1972. This book and its sequel, to be published in 2001, is the first attempt since Nockolds to cover comprehensively the story of Rolls-Royce from its earliest days until the present. The Rolls-Royce name is magic, made so by the calibre of its people and its products, and the title The Magic of a Name is singularly appropriate. Foulis, now owned by Haynes Publishing, has kindly allowed us to use the title again.


When I was asked three years ago to undertake the task of researching and writing the story of Rolls-Royce I was extremely excited at the prospect. It was surely a great story. In fact, as I soon found out, it is much more than that: it is several great stories. The genius and dedication of Royce, allied to the flair for publicity of Rolls, led to the production and worldwide sales of the best car in the world, the Silver Ghost. Shortly afterwards, Royce’s skill as a designer quickly produced the leading aero engine of the First World War, the Eagle.


By the 1920s, Royce’s reputation was such that he was asked, almost ordered, by the Government to design an engine for Britain to retain the Schneider Trophy. This association with the inspired aircraft designer, R.J. Mitchell, led on to the Spitfire and Rolls-Royce’s Merlin engines. It is safe to say that, without the Spitfire and the Hurricane, and the Merlins that powered them, the Battle of Britain would have been lost. Finally, in this book, we look at the advent of the jet engine and how Ernest (later Lord) Hives realised its importance for the future of air travel and backed Sir Frank Whittle’s development to the hilt.


Rolls-Royce has become world-famous above all for the quality of its products and these have been analysed in great detail elsewhere. This book is not a technical one. It attempts to put Rolls-Royce products and Rolls-Royce people in their context. Royce and Rolls set the highest standards, and when you have read this book I think you will agree that the tradition has been carried on faithfully by all who have been lucky enough to work with them and after them in Rolls-Royce.


Peter Pugh


November 1999


The value of money


In a book about a business, we cannot ignore the changing value of money, and – with the exception of the inter-war years – the twentieth century has been inflationary. There is no magic formula for translating 1900 prices into those of 1999. Some items have exploded in price, others have declined. We have to choose some criterion of measurement, and I have chosen the average working wage.


The Victorian age was one of stable prices, but prices started to rise just before the First World War, and rose sharply at the end of it. (Wars are always inflationary, because they distort supply and demand.) Immediately after the war, prices were more than twice as high as in 1914, and although they declined somewhat in the depressed economic conditions of the 1920s and 30s, they remained about twice as high as those before the war.


Price controls and rationing were imposed in the Second World War, but as these were withdrawn, prices again doubled. Inflation continued at about 3 per cent a year through the 1950s and 60s, but then rose sharply, almost catastrophically, in the 1970s. Although it was brought under control by the end of that decade, there were two more nasty upward blips in the early and late 1980s before the more stable 1990s.


I have used the following formula:


Late nineteenth century – multiply by 110 to equate with today’s prices


Early twentieth century – multiply by 100 to equate with today’s prices


1918–45 – multiply by 50 to equate with today’s prices





AUTHOR’S ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS



In researching this book on Rolls-Royce I have read all of the books mentioned in the bibliography, and quoted from several of them. I am grateful to the authors and to the publishers. I have interviewed many people, some of them several times, and I am grateful to them too. Most of the interviews took place in Britain, but I travelled to the USA several times, both to research the archives held at Gilbert, Segall and Young, Rolls-Royce’s legal advisers in New York, and those at Rolls-Royce Allison in Indianapolis, and also to interview a number of people who had been in close contact with Rolls-Royce. I also travelled to Australia to interview a number of people there.


I would like to mention especially: Roy Anderson, John Blatchley, Geoffrey Bone, Martin Bourne, Tom Bowling, Walter Boyne, Bill Castle, John Coplin, Roger Cra’ster, David Davies, Gordon Dawson, Sir George Edwards, Cyril Elliot, Ernest Eltis, Mac Fisher, Sir Ian Fraser, Lloyd Frisbee, Dick Garner, Phil Gilbert, Sir Arnold Hall, Fred Hardy, Ronnie Harker, Rhoddie Harvey-Bailey, Lionel Haworth, Alex Henshaw, Sam Higginbottom, Ronnie Hooker, Sir David Huddie, Mike Hudson, John Jones, Lord Keith, Lord Kings Norton, Kevin Kirby, Jock Knight, Carl Kotchian, Gordon Lewis, Sir Douglas Lowe, Jackson McGowen, Sir Arthur Marshall, Sir Peter Masefield, Sir Robin Maxwell-Hislop, Tom Metcalfe, Stewart Miller, Dr. Gordon Mitchell, Fred Morley, Sir Ian Morrow, Michael Neale, Tom Neville, Alan Newton, Rex Nicholson, Don Pepper, David Pickerill, Sir David Plastow, Tim Rigby, Jim Rigg, Ian Rimmer, Cliff Rogers, Philip Ruffles, Trevor Salt, Brian Slatter, Sir John Smith, Reg Spencer, Gordon Strangeways, Joe Sutter, Alan Swinden, Bill Thomas, Lord Tombs, Geoff Wilde, T. Wilson, John White, Ian Whittle, Andy Wood, Jimmy Wood, Paul Wood, John Wood-ward, John Wragg, Ken Wright.


Unfortunately, since I interviewed them, a number have died – Sir David Huddie, Lord Kings Norton, T. Wilson, Ronnie Harker and Stewart Miller. All made a great contribution to both Rolls-Royce and the aircraft industry.


I received constant help from Sir Ralph Robins, the Chairman of Rolls-Royce plc, and from Dave Piggott, a former Rolls-Royce engineer who held my hand through the writing on the development of the Kestrel, the Buzzard, the ‘R’ engine, the Merlin and the Griffon.


Dave Newill looked after me magnificently when I visited Rolls-Royce Allison in Indianapolis. Both Dave Newill and Dave Piggott are senior members of the Rolls-Royce Heritage Trust.


Philip Hall, curator of the Sir Henry Royce Memorial Foundation at The Hunt House, Paulerspury, gave me full access to the archives held there and was also kind enough to read the manuscript. Peter Baines, General Secretary of the Rolls-Royce Enthusiasts’ Club, also read the final manuscript and corrected us on some vital details.


Above all, my undying gratitude goes to Mike Evans, the Chairman of the Rolls-Royce Heritage Trust, without whose guidance and assistance I would not have been prepared to offer the book for publication. Mike Evans joined Rolls-Royce in 1959 from Cambridge as a graduate apprentice, and was inspired by his tutor, Bill Morton, to take an interest in the company’s history. He was surprised that there was no museum, and proposed to David Huddie, then general manager, that one should be created. Huddie gained the approval of the board, and Evans was put in charge of the project in 1961. His work on preserving the company’s heritage increased during the 1960s and, at the time of the Receivership in 1971, on advice from Divisional directors, he did the only thing he could to preserve his work on the heritage. He bought all of the engines, documents, books, files and photographs he had collected and, as far as was possible, moved them to the cowsheds behind his home.


In the mid-1970s, Evans and the director of engineering in Derby, Roy Heathcote, proposed the launch of the Rolls-Royce Heritage Trust to the Managing Director, Dennis Head. The proposal was supported and the Trust launched with Evans as Chairman, a post he still holds today.


Ably assisted by Richard Haigh, the Trust’s Chief Executive, and their secretary, Julie Wood, Mike Evans has given unstinting help to me for the last two and a half years.


Peter Pugh


November 1999





NAMES IN ROLLS-ROYCE



Many aspects of Rolls-Royce were idiosyncratic. It was part of the company’s mystique. One of them was the form of address which had been instituted by Royce and used since the earliest days. The names of all departmental heads were abbreviated. Hence, Royce was known as R, Hives as Hs, A.G. Elliott as E, R.W.H. Bailey as By, A.F. Sidgreaves as Sg and so on. The aim of this practice was to remove inhibition caused by titles within the company. Below is a list, by no means comprehensive, of some of the abbreviations used. The practice persisted right up into the 1990s but has recently been discontinued. In the text of the book it was decided not to use the abbreviations.


 






	

Sir Henry Royce R R.W.H. Bailey




	

By









	

The Hon. Charles Rolls




	

CSR









	

Claude Johnson




	

CJ









	

T. Broome




	

TB









	

John De Looze




	

D









	

R.H. Coverley




	

RHC









	

W. Cowen




	

C









	

Eric Platford




	

EP









	

B.I. Day




	

Da









	

Captain Hallam




	

Hm









	

R.W.H. Bailey




	

By









	

Ernest W. (later Lord) Hives




	

Hs









	

Dr. Stanley Hooker




	

SGH









	

W. Lappin




	

Lp









	

A.C. Lovesey




	

Lov









	

Dr. Llewellyn-Smith




	

LS









	

J.H. Maddocks




	

Mx









	

Ivan Evernden




	

Ev









	

Sir Denning Pearson




	

Psn









	

W.A. Robotham




	

Rm









	

A.G. Elliott




	

E









	

A.A. Rubbra




	

Rbr









	

J.E. Ellor




	

Lr









	

Basil Johnson




	

BJ









	

S.H. Grylls




	

Gry









	

Maurice Olley




	

Oy









	

T.S. Haldenby




	

Hy









	

Bill Hardy




	

Hdy









	

Lord Herbert Scott




	

LHS









	

A.F. Sidgreaves




	

Sg









	

A.W. Sleator




	

Sr









	

H. Swift




	

Sft









	

A. Wormald




	

Wor










 


Many of the personalities mentioned in the book performed several different tasks and occupied a variety of positions in Rolls-Royce and, in order to put each one in context without interrupting the flow of the book, we have compiled a set of short biographies between pages 293 and 324.





CHAPTER ONE





THE PRIME MOVERS



‘BOTH MEN TOOK TO EACH OTHER’


THE GODFATHER


HENRY ROYCE


THE HON. C.S. ROLLS


THE HYPHEN IN ROLLS-ROYCE


ERNEST CLAREMONT



‘BOTH MEN TOOK TO EACH OTHER’


THE HISTORIC FIRST MEETING OF Henry Royce with the Hon. C.S. Rolls took place on 4 May 1904 at the Midland Hotel in Manchester (now the Holiday Inn Crowne Plaza, Midland, Manchester).


The two men could hardly have come from more different backgrounds. The Hon. C.S. Rolls (his father had been raised to the peerage in 1892 as Baron Llangattock of the Hendre) had been educated at Eton and Cam-bridge, and moved comfortably in London society among his aristocratic and wealthy friends. Henry Royce had known poverty and hardship all his life and, in that well-worn phrase, the only university he had graduated from was the one of ‘‘ard knocks’. The one characteristic they had in common was a certain prickliness, perhaps in both cases born of shyness rather than arrogance. How would the two react to each other?


It was not a casual meeting, but one which had only been arranged after much planning and persuasion by Henry Edmunds, who came to be known as ‘the Godfather’ of Rolls-Royce. Edmunds was to say some time later in his Reminiscences:


Mr. Rolls accompanied me to Manchester, to which I was then a frequent visitor, as I had to look after several business concerns there and held a trader’s ticket between London and Manchester. I well remember the conversation I had in the dining-car of the train with Mr. Rolls, who said it was his ambition to have a motor car connected with his name so that in the future it might be a household word, just as much as ‘Broadwood’ or ‘Steinway’ in connection with pianos; or ‘Chubbs’ in connection with safes. I am sure neither of us at that time could foresee the wonderful development of the car which resulted from my introduction of these two gentlemen to each other. I remember we went to the Great Central Hotel at Manchester and lunched together. I think both men took to each other at first sight and they eagerly discussed the prospects and requirements of the automobile industry which was still in its early infancy. Mr. Rolls then went to see for himself the Royce car; and after considerable discussions and negotiations on both sides it was decided to form a separate concern in which the name of Rolls was conjoined with that of Royce, forming the compound which is held in the highest regard today. [Edmunds refers to the Great Central Hotel but there was no such hotel in Manchester. The Midland Hotel was next to Central Station, and he must have been confused.]


There have been a number of imaginative accounts of the conversations between Rolls and Royce at this first meeting but, as C.W. Morton pointed out in his History of Rolls-Royce Motor Cars Vol. 1, no reliable evidence has come to light as to precisely what was said or what business arrangements were made. Edmunds gave the occasion only a few sentences in his Reminiscences of a Pioneer and Sir Max Pemberton, who lived close to Royce in his latter years in West Wittering, wrote The Life of Sir Henry Royce and talked to Royce, unfortunately did not record a first-hand account from the great man himself. Indeed, Rolls only spoke publicly once about the meeting. At a dinner given by Rolls-Royce to mark the achievement of Percy Northey, the driver of one of the company’s first ‘Light 20 hp’ cars, in coming second in the first Tourist Trophy race run in 1905 on the Isle of Man, he said:


You may ask yourselves how it was that I came to be associated with Mr. Royce and Mr. Royce with me. Well, for a considerable number of years I had been actively engaged in the sale of foreign cars, and the reason for this was that I wanted to be able to recommend and sell the best cars in the world, irrespective of origin … the cars I sold were, I believe, the best that could be got at that time, but somehow I always had a sort of feeling that I should prefer to be selling English instead of foreign goods. In addition I could distinctly notice a growing desire on the part of my clients to purchase English-made cars; yet I was disinclined to embark in a factory and manufacture myself, firstly on account of my own incompetence and inexperience in such matters, and secondly on account of the enormous risks involved, and at the same time I could not come across any English-made car that I really liked … eventually, however, I was fortunate enough to make the acquaintance of Mr. Royce and in him I found the man I had been looking for for years.


Pemberton maintained that Rolls’s business partner, Claude Johnson (the hyphen in Rolls-Royce, of whom much more later), accompanied Rolls to Manchester to meet Royce. This is very unlikely. Edmunds would surely have mentioned it in his Reminiscences, and Wilton J. Oldham in his biography of Johnson, The Hyphen in Rolls-Royce, said:


[Rolls] returned to London full of enthusiasm and went straight to C.J.’s flat to tell him about his trip to Manchester, saying, ‘I have found the greatest engineer in the world’ … Claude Johnson was as enthusiastic as his partner when he, too, had inspected the 10 hp Royce car and met its designer; so it was quickly arranged that the firm of C.S. Rolls & Co. would have the sole selling rights of the marque, one of the conditions being that the car would be sold under the name Rolls-Royce.


In a later book Oldham maintained that Rolls had persuaded Royce to have a car sent down to London by train. Rolls collected it and drove it round to Johnson’s flat at midnight, knocked him up and said: ‘I have found the greatest engineer in the world.’


He then insisted Johnson get dressed, and drove him round the deserted London streets. (Johnson was living at this time in St. James’s Court facing Buckingham Gate, by coincidence exactly opposite the current location of Rolls-Royce’s head office.)


Paul Tritton, a dedicated scholar of the early years of Rolls-Royce, wrote in his book The Godfather of Rolls-Royce:


These stories [the ones told by Wilton Oldham and John Rowland giving details of conversations between Rolls and Johnson] have plenty of entertainment value … but are not taken literally by Rolls-Royce scholars!


In Tritton’s view it is likely that Rolls had certainly seen, and probably driven, the first Royce 10 which was in the south of England in April and May 1904 for the Side Slip trials. He could well have driven Johnson round London late at night before he went up to Manchester to meet Royce. While in Manchester he probably drove in the second Royce 10 which was allocated to Ernest Claremont.


What is not in doubt is Rolls’s excitement about the car. As Harold Nock-olds wrote in his famous book, The Magic of a Name, first published in 1938:


Rolls at this time had a prejudice against two-cylinder engines and he climbed into the high passenger seat of the little Royce prepared for all the vibration and roughness that were usually associated with the type. To his amazement he found that the car had the smoothness and even pull of the average ‘four’ allied to a quite phenomenal degree of silence. He came, he rode, and was conquered.


THE GODFATHER


Who was Henry Edmunds, the man who introduced Rolls to Royce? Paul Tritton wrote a book, The Godfather of Rolls-Royce – the life and times of Henry Edmunds, MICE, MIEE, Science of Technology’s Forgotten Pioneer, which served to place Edmunds in his correct place in the history of technological development in this country, and to give more substance to his place in the history of Rolls-Royce.


Edmunds was born in Halifax in 1853 into a middle-class family. His father was a partner in Edmunds and Hookway, a firm of engineers and iron merchants. Edmunds was educated at private schools until he was 15, when he joined his father’s firm. By the time he was 18 he had designed an oil engine, and in 1873 he and two friends patented an oil vapour lamp which could light and heat a cottage or generate steam for a marine or locomotive engine. For the next twenty years Edmunds was to enjoy several adventures while establishing himself in the electrical industry, including a meeting with Thomas Edison, apparently at the very moment of the first reproduction of mechanically recorded speech. In 1893, Edmunds became the Managing Director of W.T. Glover of Salford, Manchester, one of Britain’s largest manufacturers of electricity cables.


Later in the 1890s other directors joined W.T. Glover, including Ernest Claremont, Henry Royce’s partner at F.H. Royce & Co. Ltd. of Cooke Street, Manchester. Claremont became an important link between the two companies as F.H. Royce & Co. Ltd. (later Royce Ltd.), already well-established as a manufacturer of electric motors and dynamos, had recently developed electric cranes. (Royce’s companies went through three different legal entities. From 1884–94 the company was F.H. Royce & Co., from 1894–99 F.H. Royce & Co. Ltd., and after 1899 Royce Ltd.) While this association with Royce Ltd. was developing, Edmunds also became friendly with Rolls and Johnson through his interest in cars and his joining the Automobile Club, where he served on the committee alongside Rolls. And, of course, Johnson was the RAC’s first secretary. He donated the Henry Edmunds Hill-Climbing Trophy.


In 1902 Henry Royce began to work on a DeDion Quad, and in 1903 on a second-hand Decauville (George Clegg, an employee at Cooke Street in 1902, remembered that the Decauville arrived by train and was pushed by employees round to Cooke Street) – convinced that he could improve on it. At this time, Edmunds became more closely involved with Royce Ltd. He gave Ernest Claremont some of his shares in W.T. Glover in exchange for a block of his shares in Royce Ltd. Helping Royce make the decision to build the three prototype motor cars in the autumn of 1903, apart from Edmunds’s encouragement, was the post-Boer War slump which left Royce Ltd., along with many others, with spare capacity. Royce, mindful of the survival of his company and faced with declining orders and prices, felt that motor cars could be a new product on which he could use his talents as an electrical and mechanical engineer.


While Royce was experimenting and building his cars (he had already built a rockery at the end of his garden to prevent the embarrassment of plunging into his neighbour’s garden in the DeDion Quad if the brakes failed) Rolls was asking Edmunds if he knew of a source of new cars.


I wish you could give me any information you may get hold of relating to improvements in the building of motor cars. I have some ideas of my own which I should like to follow out; and there are many opportunities of doing so.


Edmunds was now determined to bring Rolls and Royce together, and on Saturday 26 March 1904 he wrote to Royce:


I saw Mr. Rolls yesterday, after telephoning to you: and he said it would be much more convenient if you could see him in London, as he is so very much occupied; and, further, that several other houses are now in negotiation with him, wishing to do the whole or part of his work. What he is looking for is a good high-class quality of car to replace the Panhard; preferably of three or four cylinders. He has some personal dislike to two-cylinder cars. I will do all I can to bring about this arrangement with Mr. Rolls; for I think your car deserves well; and ought to take its place when it is once recognised by the public on its merits.


On the same day he wrote to Rolls:


I have pleasure in enclosing you photographs and specification of the Royce car, which I think you will agree with me looks very promising. I have written them asking if they can make an early appointment to meet you in London; and also whether they can arrange to send up a car for your inspection and trial. The point that impressed me most, however, is this. The people have worked out their designs in their own office, and knowing as I do the skill of Mr. Royce as a practical mechanical engineer, I feel one is very safe in taking up any work his firm may produce. Trusting this matter may lead to business to our mutual interest in the future.


Six days later, on 1 April 1904 (it was officially recorded as 31 March to avoid April Fool jokes), the first Royce 10 hp made its first run, and later in the month was involved in the Side Slip Trials. On Monday 18 April, the endurance trials began with the 145 miles from London to Margate and back. Edmunds drove and was accompanied by Goody, who normally acted as his chauffeur but in this instance went along as his mechanic, and also by the official observer, Massac Buist, and a reporter from the Morning Post. The car performed well, as it did the next day on a journey to Marlborough and the day after on two trips to Slough and Beaconsfield.


As we have seen, Royce and Rolls finally came together on 4 May 1904. Edmunds helped the negotiations between them following this meeting which he had arranged, negotiations which culminated in the famous agreement of 23 December 1904.


Clearly, Edmunds’s advice was requested. Royce wrote to him on 8 August 1904.


With reference to Mr. Rolls taking our manufactures, he has at present in his possession an agreement we have got out on these lines, and with reference to his suggestion that you should be named as umpire, I should be most happy to agree to this as I know your anxiety would be for everything to be quite fair on each side. I must thank you for your introduction, which is promising well, and I think we ought to be of great service to each other.


In the agreement, Rolls contracted to take all the cars built by Royce Ltd., who agreed to deliver a range of two-, three-, four- and six-cylinder chassis rated between 10 and 30 hp.


Thereafter, Edmunds was not much involved, although he was a guest of honour at the formal opening of the firm’s factory in Derby in 1908, and it was on this occasion that he was first referred to publicly as ‘the Godfather of Rolls-Royce’. He continued to act as a director of W.T. Glover, which pioneered urban electrical distribution and electrical installation in mines, and was already Managing Director of Parsons, a manufacturer of non-skid chains. As far as we know, he was not involved further with Rolls-Royce Limited, but without him the company might never have come to exist.


Who were the two men that Edmunds brought together?


HENRY ROYCE


Frederick Henry Royce was born on 27 March 1863 in the village of Alwalton near Peterborough. He was descended from generations of farmers and millers, and his grandfather had been a pioneer in the installation of steam power in water mills. His father, James, in the family tradition, trained to be a farmer before moving on to milling, renting a mill at Castor, Northamptonshire in 1852. He had just married Mary King, the daughter of a large-scale farmer in Luffenham, Rutlandshire. In 1858 they moved to the mill at Alwalton with their first son and three daughters.


James proved to be unreliable and seemed unable to apply himself consistently, probably due to his suffering from Hodgkin’s disease. By the time Henry Royce was born in 1863 he was in financial trouble, and was forced to mortgage the Alwalton Mill lease to the London Flour Company. In 1867 he moved to London to work for this company, taking both his sons with him but leaving his daughters with his wife in Alwalton. He died in 1872 in a poor house, at the age of only forty-one. He proved the exception in a family of prosperous farmers and millers.


Henry Royce therefore knew poverty in his early life, and even before he was four he was earning money birdscaring in the fields near Alwalton. After his father died, he sold newspapers for W.H. Smith and also delivered telegrams in the Mayfair area. Royce’s grandfather had taken most of the Royce clan to Canada, leaving few relatives in Britain to give support to James’s widow and children. Fortunately, when he was fourteen an aunt on his mother’s side agreed to pay £20 a year (about £2,200 in today’s terms) for him to be an apprentice at the Great Northern Railway works at Peter-borough. He lodged with a Mr. and Mrs. Yarrow, went to evening classes in English and mathematics, and learned a great deal about machining and fitting in the workshop in Mr. Yarrow’s garden. At the same time he continued to earn money by delivering newspapers.


After three years, the aunt felt unable to continue her support. This was a serious setback for Royce, since failure to complete his premium apprenticeship denied him ‘skilled status’. However, Royce found work as a toolmaker with the Leeds engineering firm, Greenwood and Batley. Although it did not take long for Royce to secure this job, it was a very worrying time. As Pemberton says in his biography:


Unfortunately, at that time there was one of our periodical seasons of trade depression. Henry Royce tramped, as he told me himself, many weary miles upon a vain quest. His powerful recommendations opened no doors. Great houses were discharging, not engaging, men. He must have come very near despair in those fateful days before he found employment.


He was paid 11 shillings (55p or £60 in today’s terms) for a fifty-four-hour week. Royce told Pemberton that for several months he worked from 6am until 10pm and all through Friday night. This was the type of dedication he expected from his employees once he founded his own business.


His interest in electricity led to a job with the Electric Light and Power Company in London, and he progressed well enough to be sent as first electrician to the associated company, Lancashire Maxim and Weston Electric Company, which was engaged in theatre and street lighting in Liverpool. Just before Royce’s twenty-first birthday in 1884, Liverpool Corporation accepted a contract to install a complete lighting system for several streets, and Royce was given the technical responsibility.


However, by the end of May 1884, the company went into liquidation and Royce, who had saved £20, set up a business, F.H. Royce & Co., in Blake Street, Manchester. Some months later Ernest Claremont, another with electrical training, joined him, investing £50 into the business (a recent biography of Claremont by Tom Clarke suggests that Claremont’s £50 was borrowed from his father and Claremont in turn lent it to Royce). They moved within a short time to 1a Cooke Street, Manchester.


At this time gas was still the main source of lighting, both public and private. It was only five years earlier that Swan had made his first successful carbon filament electric light bulb, and there were still very few public supplies of electricity. If any organisation wanted electricity it would almost certainly have to install and operate its own generating plant. F.H. Royce & Co. started with small items for individual sales such as an electric bell-set, and quickly moved into sub-contract work producing bulb holders, switches, fuses and filaments as well as complete bulbs and registering instruments. But they soon moved on to complete installations. Later, Royce said of his skills at this time:


In dynamo work, in spite of insufficient ordinary and technical education, I managed to conceive the importance of sparkless commutation, the superiority of the drum-wound armature for continuous current dynamos. Royce and Co. Ltd. of Manchester became famous for continuous current dynamos which had sparkless commutation in the days before carbon brushes. While at Liverpool from 1882 to 1883, I conceived the value of the three-wire system of conductor in efficiency and economy of distribution of electricity, and also, afterwards, the scheme of maintaining a constant potential at a distant point. Both of these I successfully applied. In the early days I discovered and demonstrated the cause of broken wires in dynamos through the deflection of the shafts by weight and magnetism.


This ability to observe, think about and then improve on existing machines and instruments was to be a consistent theme throughout Royce’s life.


Profits were fed back into the business, which developed and eventually produced dynamos, motors, winches and cranes. Claremont concerned himself with sales, finance and virtually everything of a non-technical nature. As with most small businesses, life was precarious. Royce told the News Chronicle in an interview many years later:


For many years I worked hard to keep the company going through its very difficult days of pioneering, personally keeping our few machine tools working on Saturday afternoons when men did not wish to work, and I remember many times our position was so precarious that it seemed hopeless to continue. Then, owing to the great demand for the lighting dynamos we made for cotton mills, ships and other lighting plants, we enjoyed a period of prosperity.


In the early struggling years, Royce and Claremont lived together in a room over the workshop. According to Harold Nockolds:


[T]heir only diversion at this time was a card game called ‘Grab’, which appears to have been a combination of all-in wrestling and strip poker. At any rate they both wore tightly-buttoned overalls when playing the game, which generally ended in their rolling about on the floor, fighting like a couple of puppies.


What the business needed was a steady stream of straightforward work to cover the overheads while Royce could give free rein to his creative genius. Certainly he became obsessed with work, often staying late into the night and even all through the night. On a number of occasions those arriving next morning would find him at a work-bench asleep with his head on his arms.


By the end of the 1880s the firm was sufficiently prosperous for Royce and Claremont to consider other matters besides the next item of production and the next source of income.


Most of the early biographies of Royce assumed that both Royce and Claremont married in the same year. However, this was not so. Official records show that on 19 January 1889 Claremont married Edith Punt (born 1864) who was then living at 147 Euston Road, London, at Old St. Pancras Church, Euston Road. Royce married Edith’s sister, Minnie Grace, then of 20 Grosvenor Gardens, Willesden, London in March 1893, at the Church of St. Andrew, Willesden.


The Royces moved into a house called Eastbourne, 2 Holland Park Road (now Zetland Road), Chorlton-cum-Hardy, and Royce found his mother a house nearby. (In 1889 he had brought her up from Tunbridge Wells to live with him in 45 Barton Street, Moss Side. They employed a fifteen-year-old servant girl, Patricia Brady.) Royce visited his mother almost every night on his way home from work. Frequently this was, of course, very late, and he would find her propped up in bed knitting socks for him. Mrs. Royce finally died in 1904 and was buried at the District Council Cemetery in Knutsford.


Also in 1893, Royce had the good fortune to acquire the services of John De Looze as cashier and accountant. He was able to relieve Royce and Claremont of much of the administration, and also took on the thankless task of trying to ensure that Royce took some nourishment during the day. He would send small boys chasing after him with glasses of milk, with instructions not to return until Royce had drunk them.


The same year the partnership of Royce and Claremont was converted into a limited company with the title F.H. Royce & Co. Ltd., Electrical and Mechanical Engineers, and Manufacturers of Dynamos, Motors and Kindred Articles. The directors were Royce, Claremont and a friend of Claremont, James P. Whitehead, who provided extra capital to cope with the demand for dynamos. John De Looze was named secretary, a position he occupied in F.H. Royce & Co. Ltd., then Royce Ltd., and finally Rolls-Royce Limited until he retired in 1943.


The next year the partners decided that further capital would be required to cope with expected expansion and, as a result, a valuation of the business was carried out. From the valuation document we can see that the business was now quite substantial, with a turning and fitting shop, capstan lathe shop, lamp store room, brass finishing room, store room, boiler house, packing shop and yard, pattern room, dynamo room, girls’ workroom, cook house, instrument room, general office, private office, showroom, staircase and entrance. The inventory included fifty-three machines, of which thirty were lathes, seven drilling machines and five milling machines or planes. There was also plant at the Manchester Ship Canal Contract owned by the company. (Royce had carried out considerable sub-contract work on the canal, which was built between 1887 and 1894.) The valuation put on the business, excluding premises which were rented, work in progress and finished products, was £2,721 18s 4d (about £300,000 in today’s terms).


The next major project was a series of electrical cranes. By October 1897, the firm had £6,000 worth of orders (about £660,000 today). By February 1899 the figure was £20,000. Further working capital was required, and in 1899 a prospectus was issued seeking £30,000 (over £3 million today) in new share capital. At the same time F.H. Royce & Co. Ltd. became Royce Ltd. (the former was wound up as the latter was formed). Some £20,000 was needed for additional works, and £10,000 for the ‘general requirements of the business’, what would be called working capital today. At this time, the net value of assets was stated as £20,664, or nearly ten times the figure of 1894. (The valuation of the business in 1894 looks a little unsophisticated. For example, work in progress is surely an asset of the company.)


The flotation was successful and Trafford Park Industrial Estate was chosen as the site for a new factory, the design of which was largely undertaken by Royce himself. It was situated immediately across the road from W.T. Glover, and the relationship between Henry Edmunds (by this time running Glover’s following Walter Glover’s death in 1893) and Royce Limited became closer. The new factory was occupied in 1901 with the transfer of the iron foundry and crane manufacture from Cooke Street. This was the same industrial estate where Henry Ford assembled the first Model Ts in Europe in 1912, and where Ford built the Rolls-Royce Merlin engines in the Second World War.


The Royce electric crane became legendary for its longevity and reliability and in due course was exported throughout the world, including Japan. The Japanese Imperial Navy installed one in their dockyard at Kobe, and when Royce’s agents subsequently visited the yard to see if the crane was performing satisfactorily, they found that the Navy had paid it the ultimate compliment. The copy also had a Royce nameplate!


The success of the cranes and the business generally allowed Royce the luxury of building his own house in the fashionable Legh Road, Knutsford. It was a large house, but for some reason the Royces called it Brae Cottage. The house was set in a substantial garden, in which Royce characteristically worked extremely hard.


One of Royce’s colleagues was to say later:


His one recreation was gardening. He was a great believer in root pruning, and kept his apple and pear trees very small, but they always bore plenty of the most beautiful fruit. He also went in largely for roses, and though he never sent any to a show I feel sure they would have won prizes if he had done so. He was a great lover of the country and no one enjoyed a drive more than he did. He was always most careful to clear up any mess after a picnic.


Unfortunately, the prosperity of the business was short-lived. The Boer War caused a general slump in trade, and more specifically, cheaper dynamos and cranes arrived in Britain from Germany, while subsidiaries of United States companies, such as Westinghouse, started up production in Britain. The resulting over-capacity brought downward pressure on prices. Royce’s colleagues probably suggested a cheapening of their products to make them more competitive, but the perfectionist Royce would not hear of it. The early 1900s were difficult for Royce Ltd., and as we have seen, Royce turned his attention to motor cars as a potential new product for the company. Claremont was not enthusiastic, preferring to try to ride out the recession.


At weekends Royce would drive his car round the Cheshire lanes, and on Monday morning would put two young apprentices, Platford and Haldenby, to work on improvements he had devised. Frustrated with the inadequacies of the Decauville (although in many ways by the standards of the day it was advanced, and therefore he saw he could build on it), Royce decided in the spring of 1903 to make a prototype car of his own.


Some have tried to give the impression that it was almost by chance that Royce became involved in designing a motor car. Royce was not a man to rely on chance. He saw that the motor car had a great future, and that it would be an ideal product for his business, by this time suffering from cheaper, competitive products which in some cases were using his patents without payment of a royalty.


The experimental car would have a 10 hp two-cylinder engine with a bore of 95 mm and a stroke of 127 mm, with overhead inlet and side exhaust valves. By giving it ample water-cooling spaces, Royce hoped to avoid the overheating problems which plagued so many early cars. There were very few accessory makers, and anyway Royce would have found their products unsatisfactory. Initially he had to use a French Longuemare carburettor until he had designed his own and, with his electrical experience, found no problem with ignition, designing his own trembler coil and distributor. Whereas the average clutch at the time provided only two positions, in and out, which made a smooth start almost impossible, Royce’s clutch provided a progressive engagement, allowing a smooth take-off.


There was nothing revolutionary about Royce’s car. He had taken the best of current automobile design and improved on every aspect of it.


Frank Lord was to write the following about Royce’s first car in an obituary in Autocar after Royce’s death:


In 1904 he produced the first Royce car: this was before he had met the late Hon. C.S. Rolls. The car was a 10 hp. two-cylinder, and was a revelation for its date, having properly lubricated joints to the shaft drive. As he could not buy a satisfactory coil for the ignition, he designed one, fitting very large points of the purest platinum, which, although expensive in the first place, never seemed to want adjusting or cleaning. The coil itself was as nearly perfect as possible, thus from the very first making the car reliable in a part in which, with most cars, there was endless trouble.


I had the great pleasure and privilege of going with him on the first trial run the car ever made. We left Knutsford one morning shortly after eleven, and arrived in Abergale, about eighty miles away, for lunch, and then drove on to Beaumaris on the Menai Straits. The next day we ran on through Barmouth to Aberystwyth, driving back to Knutsford on the day following, through Shrewsbury. During the whole three days’ trial we never had a stop of any sort from any fault of the car, a pretty good performance for a car designed by a man who had never designed one before; yet only what you could expect from one designed by Mr. Royce.


Arthur Wormald, later works manager at Rolls-Royce, Derby, said of Royce’s early work on motor cars:


I do not think that Sir Henry did anything of a revolutionary nature in his work on motor cars in the early days; he did, however, do much important development and a considerable amount of re-designing of existing devices and apparatus, so that his motor cars were far and away better than anyone else’s motor cars.


I cannot say there was any outstanding original invention incorporated in the 10 hp two-cylinder cars, but I can say that every unit of that car was of a better and sounder design than was to be found in contemporary makes. He paid great attention to the smallest detail and the result of his personal consideration to every little thing resulted in the whole assembly being of a very high standard of perfection.


It is rather to Sir Henry’s thoroughness and attention to even the smallest detail than to any revolutionary invention that his products have the superlative qualities that we all know so well. The overhead valve was not an innovation of Sir Henry’s; others had it but Sir Henry’s method of applying it was years ahead of the rest. In the same way Sir Henry was not the first to adopt shaft drive in place of chains, but here again his shaft drive cut out many weaknesses in the then existing designs.


 


One major weakness of existing cars was noise, and Royce concentrated on making his car as quiet as possible. He paid close attention to the valve gear, exhaust manifold, carburettor intake and silencer, as well ensuring that every part was meticulously made and assembled to eliminate every cause of noise and rattle. The result was a quietness that stood in sharp contrast to the noise of other makes.


But none of this was achieved lightly. If Royce had driven himself before, he now became almost fanatical in his desire to produce the best motor car. As Nockolds said:


To many he would have seemed a hard task-master in those hectic days, but it is only fair to add that he drove no one harder than himself. In order to solve one particularly knotty problem he did not leave the works for three days and nights, his only rest being a few hours’ sleep on a bench.


Fortunately, Platford and Haldenby became equally inspired and worked almost the same punishing hours, up to a hundred hours a week and for just five shillings (25p or £25 in today’s terms). Platford was to become Rolls-Royce’s chief tester until he died prematurely in 1938. After his death, Ernest Hives, by then general manager and a director, decreed that no one else would ever have the title. Haldenby went on to become assistant works manager by the outbreak of the Second World War, and deputy general works manager later. We shall see that the great climax to his career was the design and supervision of the building of the Crewe and Glasgow factories at the beginning of the Second World War. Both Platford and Haldenby attributed their dedication, and that of others, to the respect they all held for Royce because of his ability for hard work and the fact that he could do every man’s job better than the man himself. One employee, Ivan Evernden, said later:


I not only admired him, I was one of the few people who were genuinely fond of him … Henry Royce ruled the lives of the people around him, claimed their body and soul, even when they were asleep.


The first cars were not made without a certain amount of friction within the Cooke Street works. To begin with, Claremont did not initially share Royce’s enthusiasm for the new project and he would ask Royce how his ‘two guinea an ounce’ job was progressing. The works manager, Hulley, found himself fighting to keep the mechanics working on the day-to-day business of producing dynamos, winches and so on while Royce was inclined to switch them over to work on his cars. And Royce’s perfectionist approach was paramount.


As the first car approached completion, a mechanic bent the front axle ‘cold’ in order to overcome a half-inch discrepancy. Royce was outraged at ‘this foul practice’, denouncing it both for its bad workmanship and for its lowering of the safety margin. Platford would recall later how Royce scrapped the whole axle, even though it delayed the eagerly awaited first trial run.


Ian Lloyd, in his research for his trilogy on Rolls-Royce, unearthed Ernest Wooler, a retired engineer living in the USA, who had served his apprenticeship under Royce in 1903. In Wooler’s view, it entitled him to claim that he was the first premium apprentice in the British motor industry. He wrote to Lloyd in 1948:


Royce, Claremont and De Looze often visited our home when I was a child so it was only natural I became the first premium apprentice in the motor-car industry in 1903 at 6/- a week, if I was on time, 6.00am till 5.30pm, and lots of overtime for and with Mr. Royce, at 2d per hour. After we got the sketches of the Decauville car they were used by the draughtsmen, two ‘experienced’ auto designers, Adams and Shipley, to design the Royce 2 cyl. car. But ‘Old man Royce’ did the designing … every little detail, all calculated out and each and every one with Royce’s mechanical genius standing out all over it. The radiator design, not for beauty but mechanically correct which gave it mechanical beauty and class etc. etc. I helped assemble the first car and Royce worked right along with us in overalls at times. He wanted a leather washer or gasket one day – or rather night. Nothing in the stock room was suitable or at least I could not find anything. Impatiently he tore off one of his leather leggings he wore occasionally in those days and threw it at me to ‘make it out of that quickly’. He sometimes came to the works with only one legging on, or without a tie. Motor cars on his mind all the time … Royce’s personal interest in everyone’s work was very gratifying. He’d rush through his electrical work to get on to his plaything – as we thought the Royce car, especially in the Drawing office, much to the disgust of the electrical department and the delight of the few favoured ones on motor-car work.


We sure missed Mr. Royce when we went to Derby. He never came down while we were building the works and very little afterwards. He was too busy and interested in the engineering in Manchester.


My favourite story of Rolls-Royce workmanship – design and quality to Americans when they ask me about it, as they often do – is the use of taper bolts instead of rivets. I remember Royce carefully explaining to me as a child how a hot rivet never filled a hole when it cooled. A cold rivet was punishing the metal too much. So we made taper bolts fitted perfectly in a hand-reamed hole. It is such details that explain the difference between Rolls-Royce and other cars and Rolls-Royce quality. Also Royce himself, who taught us all the principles which carried on in the whole organisation.


 


The first car was completed in the spring of 1904 and was used personally by Royce. The second was driven by Claremont but was also used to try out various modifications. As a result it was not consistently reliable and Claremont would have a hansom cab follow him. Whenever the car broke down, Claremont would abandon it, send a telegram to Cooke Street, and resume his journey in the hansom. This unreliability was a source of some embarrassment, and he put up a notice in front of his passengers which read: ‘If the car breaks down please don’t ask a lot of silly questions.’


This first car, like its successors, was not revolutionary in any single part but in the excellence of the whole. However, the battery and trembler coil ignition system had benefited from Royce’s electrical background, and there was a new carburettor, along with a well-designed exhaust system with a huge silencer. The engine had two cylinders, and drove the rear wheels through a cone clutch and three-speed gearbox, propeller shaft and differential on the rear axle. Maximum speed was about 30 mph and the car weighed 14.5 cwt.


THE HON. C.S. ROLLS


The Hon. Charles Rolls’s significance in the history of Rolls-Royce has been the subject of considerable debate. Those keen to downgrade it have pointed to the fact that he died only six years after meeting Henry Royce and that, during this period, his interest seemed to move on from selling motor cars to flying aeroplanes. Others, most notably Lord Montagu of Beaulieu, whose book Rolls of Rolls-Royce was published by Cassell in 1966, have sought to establish his importance in the early days of the company.


Charles Stewart Rolls was born on 27 August 1877, at 35 Hill Street, Berkeley Square, London, a house rented by his father, John Allan Rolls, Justice of the Peace for Monmouthshire and recently High Sheriff for the county. Some historians have liked to speculate that Henry Royce, then a messenger with the Post Office in the Mayfair area, might have delivered telegrams of congratulations to 35 Hill Street. Gordon Bruce, who wrote Charlie Rolls – pioneer aviator for the Rolls-Royce Heritage Trust, wondered also whether Royce was a Rolls tenant when, as he said, he ‘lived in a third floor flat in the Old Kent Road’ while he worked at the Bankside Power Station in 1881 and 1882.


The Rolls family fortune had been founded by his great, great grandfather John (1735–1801), a dairy farmer who had bought freeholds and leaseholds on both sides of the Old Kent Road. In 1767 John married Sarah Coysh and this expanded the family’s holdings into Bermondsey, Camberwell, Newington and Southwark. It also brought sufficiently large estates in Monmouth-shire to warrant his appointment as High Sheriff in 1794. John also expanded his business interests by building houses, first for the gentry, and then for London’s growing artisan population.


His son John (1776–1837) nearly gambled the family fortune away. In 1806 the press reported that a ‘dashing Cow-Keeper’s son in the Kent Road has, during the past summer, been pigeoned of near £60,000 [nearly £7 million in today’s terms]’. John lived more quietly after this and his son, John Etherington Welch Rolls (1807–70) based himself at The Hendre, a farmhouse near Monmouth, part of the dowry of Sarah Coysh. John Etherington and his son, John Allan Rolls (1837–1912) built a mansion at The Hendre and concentrated on the family’s agricultural estates in Monmouthshire while, at the same time, completing the family’s residential developments in London.


In 1892, when John Allan Rolls was raised to the peerage as Baron Llangattock of The Hendre, the Surrey properties were yielding £33,900 (about £3.39 million today) in rent. Llangattock owned 6,100 acres in Monmouthshire and his London estates housed ‘60,000 of the working class’. Shortly after the birth of his son, Charles, John Allan Rolls bought South Lodge, Rutland Gate, Knightsbridge, which gave the family a London base as well as their estate in Monmouthshire.


Charles received a conventional upper-class education. After Mortimer Vicarage Preparatory School in Berkshire, he followed his father and elder brothers, John and Henry, to Eton. While still at Eton he installed a dynamo at The Hendre and wired part of the house for electricity. His early interest in things mechanical and electrical earned him the nickname ‘dirty Rolls’ at Eton. In 1894 Charles moved on to Herbert Pigg’s private crammer at Norwich House, Panton Street, Cambridge, with the aim of being accepted by Trinity College, Cambridge. His enthusiasm for individualism, science and speed was satisfied for the moment by the bicycle and cycling. History says that he won a half-blue for cycling but, as G.R.N. Minchin wrote in his book Under My Bonnet, published by G.T. Foulis in 1950:


Lady Shelley-Rolls (Rolls’ sister) was not certain of this. I very much doubt if ‘Blues’ or even ‘Half-Blues’ were ever awarded for cycling. They certainly were not in my day.


Rolls’s enthusiasm for the new ‘autocar’ seems to have been fired by a weekend spent at the house of Sir David Salomons, an early pioneer of motoring in Britain, in February 1896. Rolls wrote to his father:


I intend going in for one of these some time and have been saving up for a considerable time for the purpose.


In the history of motoring, as well as in the history of Rolls-Royce, Charles Rolls is important as one of the early popularisers of motoring and as one of those prepared to stand up to the defenders of the status quo who wanted to resist the progress and development of the ‘infernal machine’. He joined the Self-Propelled Traffic Association which had been founded by Sir David Salomons and Harry Lawson in December 1895 to repeal the legal restrictions on road vehicles, became a member of the Automobile Club of France, also founded in 1895, and was a founder member, and on the committee until 1908, of the Automobile Club of Great Britain and Ireland (later the RAC).


Rolls also participated in almost every major ‘goggles and dust’ race and trial that time would permit. In the Thousand Mile Reliability Trial, London to Edinburgh, of 1900, driving a 12 hp Panhard, he won the Automobile Club’s gold medal for the best amateur performance. In 1905 he was the British representative in the race in France for the International Trophy offered by James Gordon Bennett (1841–1918), proprietor of the New York Herald. And in October 1896 Charles went to Paris and spent all his savings, as well as a loan from his father, on a second-hand 3¾ hp Peugeot Phaeton. This was believed to be the first car ever based in Cambridge. It was soon followed by two mechanical tricycles, a DeDion and a Bollee. Charles used the university engineering laboratories to work on these vehicles. According to Minchin, Rolls decided to be the first undergraduate to go up to Cambridge in a motor-propelled vehicle.


‘Our family happened to know the Chief Constables of Hertfordshire and Cambridgeshire,’ Lady Shelley-Rolls said, ‘and my brother, who always asked for – and generally got – anything he wanted, went boldly to them and extracted promises that in view of his pioneer journey, they would instruct their men to close their eyes when he passed.’ This encouraged him to start his first journey from London to Cambridge. He and a companion left in the evening and as far as Potters Bar they conformed to the law, each taking it in turn to carry the red lantern. Rolls happened to be walking in front at the time when he got into conversation with a policeman. It was about two o’ clock in the morning.


‘Evening,’ said the policeman, ‘one of these ‘ere ‘orseless carriages?’


‘Yes,’ Rolls replied.


‘Don’t see many o’ them things about ‘ere, but I should like to ‘ave a ride in one.’


‘Jump up, then,’ said Rolls, and they both got into the car.


‘Now you can just let ‘er go ‘ow you please down this ‘ill for there ain’t no one else on the beat for some miles further on.’


So away they went in the bright moonlight, touching the fearful speed of perhaps 20 miles an hour, the policeman holding on like grim death till the engine got too hot to go further. Although water-cooled, there were no radiators in those days and ten miles was the very maximum that could be done without getting more water. As the water began to give out it was necessary to ascertain if the pump was working by putting a hand under a pipe in a box behind. This was the job of the passenger and the water was generally boiling. In order to escape being burnt he (or she) usually said ‘yes’ when asking if the water was flowing, which untruth often led to disastrous results.


This pioneer run, almost certainly the first from London to Cambridge, ended at Cambridge about 10 a.m. the next day. Approximate time 12 hours, average 4½ miles per hour. A very good average, however, for an 1895 touring car.


 


Rolls graduated in June 1898 with a degree in Mechanism and Applied Science, and began a career in practical engineering following his acceptance as a student member of the Institution of Civil Engineers. In the autumn of 1898 he worked as a third engineer on the family’s steam yacht, Santa Maria, and he also enjoyed a brief spell in the workshops of the London and North Western Railway in Crewe (interesting in view of later developments). By 1899 he had set up his own workshop at South Lodge, with drilling and milling machines. But Rolls was not a designer or an innovator. Rather, he was a pioneer of action, and his pioneering over the next few years was concentrated on motoring.


Lord Montagu relates many of his early adventures, including driving down to Monmouth while he was still an undergraduate:


[H]e determined to celebrate Christmas by driving down from South Lodge to the Hendre in the Peugeot. To moderns, to embark on such an adventure in winter with primitive brakes which overheated at the least provocation appears sheer lunacy … such pneumatic tyres as were available were treadless and thus incapable of any degree of grip. Anti-freeze was unknown, and one thawed out one’s cooling system by lighting fires under the car.


On the journey they had to cope with the 1-in-6 descent of Birdlip Hill.


Birdlip all but proved their Waterloo. The side-brake expired on the steepest part of the hill, while the foot-brake linkage bent under the constant pressure, and the pedal went flat to the floor, leaving the Peugeot careering downhill towards a light which appeared to be a vehicle in the road, but was fortunately a lantern in a cottage window. They narrowly missed heaps of stones but reached the foot of the hill in safety.


Montagu said of Rolls:


Among his contemporaries, Rolls stands out by virtue of his understanding of the motor-car and its workings. He could never have matched my father’s appreciation of its social significance; he never went to such lengths in his publicity campaigns as did Edge, nor had he Claude Johnson’s organising ability … But everyone who rode with Rolls testifies to the quickness of his reaction, and to the sensation that he was at one with his steed.


Rolls was not an easy man to work for. According to Minchin:


Rolls was a man of very fixed ideas and he was in some ways erratic. For example, he disliked going to a restaurant during a motor run and preferred to eat his meals in the open, often to the great discomfort of his passengers. He had an utter disregard for appearance and on certain occasions this created embarrassment to his friends, particularly as he would always go to the most expensive hotels. Another trouble was that Rolls never had any baggage. The possession of luggage is looked on by hotels as a sort of guarantee or hostage. Without any it was always possible for a visitor to go for a stroll after dinner and to be sufficiently absent-minded as to forget to return!


Two of Rolls’ friends told me they had constant trouble with him over this question of baggage. Apparently Rolls carried only a razor, a few handkerchiefs and some socks in his pockets! On long trips abroad he did take an extra flannel shirt and a celluloid collar, but in spite of this additional wardrobe a friend suffered badly when Rolls would go to the smartest hotel in Biarritz, at the height of the season. ‘It is a pity you did not stay longer at Eton where you might have become civilized,’ he was told by his friend.


And this is what his friend, Moore-Brabazon, later Lord Brabazon of Tara, wrote about him:


Charlie Rolls was the strangest of men and one of the most lovable [sic]. He was tall and rather thin, and his eyes stood out of their sockets rather more than is normal. He was rather fond of a Norfolk jacket – a thing you seldom see nowadays – and always wore a very high, stiff, white collar. He’d look a bit odd today, but at that time this kit was in no way absurd. While motoring he would turn his cap back to front.


He was greatly imaginative, almost prophetic, possessing a very sound knowledge of mechanics. He was of course a very good driver, and early inculcated in me the maxim that the first thing a driver had to do in a race was to concentrate on getting the car home. Nothing else was so important as to finish. Wise words, and no one was better at carrying out his own advice than Charlie Rolls. He had a wonderful sympathy with machinery – ‘hands’ I suppose one would call it in horsey language.


Away from his own subjects he never tried to take part in a conversation, but he had many subjects and was clever at turning the conversation along his chosen line. He did not suffer fools gladly and his sense of humour was rather crude – rather like that of the Japanese, who roar with laughter when someone trips over a carpet and nearly breaks his neck. Subtleties and sly digs passed right over him, and he was always a bit aloof, for he was not a good mixer; but to his real friends, who were few, he was a good companion if you were both interested in the same thing. Incidentally, he was a snob too: the way he used his superb powers of salesmanship to float early Rolls-Royce cars on the aristocracy of England left every other firm an ‘also ran’.


 


When Royce and Rolls came together, Royce provided the original engineering but Rolls’s contribution both in market intelligence and in the use of his contacts was vital to the early and critical days of the joint venture. When Rolls first went to Manchester to meet Royce he had been looking for a three- or four-cylinder car to sell to his clients. Nevertheless, he was so impressed with Royce’s two-cylinder car that he knew he could sell it as it was.


It was Rolls’s name that was stressed in the early advertising. The 1905 catalogue mentioned Messrs. Royce Ltd. on page three as the manufacturer of the car exclusively for C.S. Rolls & Co. The catalogue, with its twenty pages, contained comprehensive details of the range of cars, a large number of testimonials from the small number of owners, and biographies (including photographs) of Rolls and Johnson, but ignoring Royce altogether. Up to August 1905, Rolls continued to divide his advertising equally between Rolls-Royce, Minerva and Orleans. But his efforts were increasingly concentrated on Rolls-Royce.


While the agreement between C.S. Rolls and Royce Ltd. was still being drafted, Rolls included a display of Rolls-Royce chassis and engines on the Rolls stand at the Paris salon in December 1904. A Royce two-cylinder 10 hp and a Rolls-Royce two-cylinder 10 hp were also at the show, in order to give rides to prospective buyers. Rolls had been looking for a British replacement for his French Peugeots and Belgian Minervas, and in Royce’s car he felt he had found it. When it was awarded a gold medal at the salon he felt his confidence was justified. Outside the salon he gave demonstrations in a 10 hp car to as many journalists and prospective customers as possible. The silent running seemed to impress them most. The motoring correspondent of The Times wrote:


When the engine is running one can neither hear nor feel it, and pedestrians never seemed to hear the car’s approach.


Country Life was even more eulogistic:


It [the 10 hp] was, in a single word, a revelation … never before have I been in a car which made so little noise, vibrated so little, ran so smoothly or could be turned about so easily and readily in a maze of traffic.


It went on to sound a note of caution:


Indeed, the conclusion I reached then and there was that the car was too silent and too ghost-like to be safe. That the engine could be set running while the car was at rest without any noise or vibration perceptible to the occupants of the car was good; that the car in motion should overtake numerous wayfarers without their giving any indication of their having heard it, so that the horn had frequently to be called into use, was almost carrying excellence too far.


When he returned to England, Rolls passed on the comments of the prospective customers to Royce. It was silence and smoothness that most seemed to want. Royce needed little persuading, as these two attributes appealed to him on technical grounds anyway.


And in Britain both Rolls and Johnson were doing all they could to publicise the excellence of Royce’s cars. At the end of 1904, Rolls was due to meet at Folkestone HRH the Duke of Connaught, one of Queen Victoria’s sons and Commander-in-Chief of the British land forces. Rolls was hoping to convince the Duke that some of his officers should be in cars, not on horses. He made sure many people knew that such was his faith in the reliability of his 10 hp Royce that he would not leave London the day before, but would leave on the same morning of the meeting. He duly met the Duke on time, took him along the south coast and returned to London the same day, after completing 220 miles.


He worked hard on journalists, taking Foster Pedley of Lord Montagu’s Car Illustrated as his mechanic on the Twenty’s preliminary trials in the Isle of Man. He also took W. Worby Beaumont, engineer to the Automobile Club of Great Britain, to the Motor Union’s rally at the Duke of West-minster’s home, Eaton Hall, Chester, in July 1905. When the headmaster of Eton retired, Rolls did not miss the opportunity to suggest to old Etonians that a Rolls-Royce would make a most suitable leaving present.


At the end of 1906, Charles Rolls travelled to the USA to promote the new Rolls-Royces. He exhibited at the Association of Licensed Automobile Manufacturers’ Show in New York’s Madison Square Garden in January 1907. The Manchester Evening Chronicle described ‘Manchester’s record order for America’ when Rolls persuaded Walter Martin, the newly appointed concessionaire in New York, to commit to taking seventeen cars in 1906 and fifty in 1908. (Rolls’s real reason for going to the USA was to meet the Wright brothers as he was, by this time, hooked on the new flying craze. He was successful in this mission.)


Rolls also won a Silver Trophy in a five-mile race at the Empire City Track, New York. (The track still exists and is used for horse-racing. A picture of Rolls is on display.) He drove a Light Twenty and covered the five miles in five minutes 52 seconds, apparently resisting all attempts by the US drivers to jockey him out of the way. He completed the course faster than a 30 hp Packard, a 45 hp Peerless, a 60 hp Renault and a 45 hp Westinghouse.


In 1906, Rolls took Massac Buist, a contemporary at Cambridge, in a Twenty on an attempt to break the Monte Carlo to London record, which stood at 37.5 hours. This is Buist’s account of the hectic drive:


In checking over the provisions after ‘C.S.R.’ had gone to bed on the eve of the attempt, I discovered that there were two half bottles of champagne and much cold tea. On enquiring the scheme of this Mr. Rolls explained quite seriously that the champagne was for himself and that the tea was for the rest of us …


In the middle of the night we ran into a driving rain storm, which made the going heavy and greatly increased our difficulties in seeing the road. The car had no latter-day ‘all-weather’ equipment and I had to thrust the marked route in front of the oil side lamp and try to make out my notes, which ‘also ran’, the whole book becoming more and more pulp-like. At one level crossing, the gates of which we foreknew would have to be closed at the time we were timed to approach, because an express train would also be due, we had speculated 10 francs on the way down as a tip to the man to be ready to open the gates instantly and momentarily at the sound of our horn – rather a dramatic effect, I had fondly hoped. Because of the storm, however, the wretch assumed we should not turn up, so kept snug in bed. It took us a quarter of an hour to rouse him. Having got him to open the gates we had to look out for an important dividing of the ways a kilometre or so further on. The driver, however, who was so excited by the needless delay and the heavy going, feeling that all the trouble was for naught, forged ahead furiously. Soon we were unmistakably on the wrong road, having shot past the fork while I was struggling with the map under the feeble flicker of the lamp in a high wind and rain that fell like steel rods. We had better turn back. But C.S.R. would not do so, wherefore we drove on. It was impossible to read any road signs, and at that speed it would have been even in a blaze of sunshine! I remember approaching Dijon towards dawn, when we were about two hours behind the record.


But the car never faltered; nor did the British-made tyres let us down …


Of course, with the coming of the sunlight and the passing of the stormy and chilly night, we were all as blithe as birds. Thereafter everything went even better than our most sanguine expectations. To see that little car recover those lost two hours and begin beating the record a second time as the day advanced was a heartening revelation. We reached Boulogne – 771 miles from the start, traversed in 28 hours 14 minutes, including all stops, loss of direction and the night storm – and had 3 hours 11 minutes to wait on Boulogne Quay before preparations for departure commenced.


 


In spite of the long wait they broke the record, but only just – by one and a half minutes!


As the Rolls-Royce partnership progressed and moved towards a fully fledged company, Rolls’s attention turned towards flying. He had always been interested in ballooning (he shared this interest with one of his closest friends from Cambridge days, John Theodore Cuthbert Moore-Brabazon, who eventually became Lord Brabazon of Tara and chaired the eponymous committee in the Second World War which looked at the prospects for civil aviation after the war), but when Rolls was in the USA promoting Rolls-Royce cars in 1906, as we have seen, he secured an introduction to the Wright brothers. When he met them again in France in 1908 and flew with them, he said:


After experiencing every sort of locomotion, including cycling and motor racing, a voyage in a French army dirigible and over 130 trips in an ordinary balloon, there is nothing so fascinating or exhilarating as flying.


According to Wilton J. Oldham in The Hyphen in Rolls-Royce, Ernest Claremont applied his rigorous attention to costs to the activities of Rolls’ London depot once it became part of Rolls-Royce Limited. He was appalled to find that Rolls was employing men in the depot to work on Colonel Capper’s airship Nulli Secundus instead of on customers’ cars. Oldham wrote:


… the Directors were not very pleased and there was a row. This was the last straw for Rolls, always a bad loser.


Claremont, never keen for Rolls-Royce to become involved with aircraft or aero engines, had probably become disenchanted with Rolls after he found that C.S. Rolls & Co. had some bad debts when it was absorbed into Rolls-Royce Limited in 1907, a disenchantment fuelled by Rolls’s reluctance to remove his name from the business at Lillie Hall, Fulham, where he had set up as an automobile agent in 1903, and by his wanting to continue to trade in the accessories he had sold as C.S. Rolls & Co.


Rolls, a founder member of the Aero Club, had tried to persuade Royce to design an aero engine but Royce had shown little interest, believing that the commercial market was too limited. However, through Rolls, Royce did act as a consultant to the Army on the airship being developed at Farnborough. And Claude Johnson was associated with flying in his capacity as founder secretary of the Aero Club. The one person who was definitely opposed to involvement in aero engines was Claremont. He refused to allow Rolls-Royce to take a licence to manufacture the Wright Flier which Rolls had advocated.


Now, Rolls turned his attention almost fully to flying. He told The Times in October 1908:


The sensation of flight was delightful and novel, and the fact of accomplishing what several eminent scientists have ‘proved’ impossible gave also an added satisfaction.


Before powered aircraft were available to him, Rolls’s interest in flight was focused on ballooning. This is what his close friend, Moore-Brabazon, wrote about those pioneering days in his book, The Brabazon Story:


In these early days of ballooning Charlie Rolls was again my greatest friend and collaborator. We were both discontented with the type of balloon made by Spencer Brothers, who almost had the monopoly in those days. We discovered two delightful young brothers named Short, who were doing ballooning shows, and we asked them if, after they had studied balloon manufacture in France, they would make us a balloon. This they did after a sojourn in France to pick up the latest technique. They took a place in Battersea under the arches of the railway at the bottom of Lower Sloane Street, and there they made their first balloon for Charlie Rolls and myself. It was called the Venus, and we made many very satisfactory flights in it. Incidentally, it was the first spherical balloon made in England.


It seems clear that Rolls was not only interested in flying but also in becoming involved in the whole aeroplane business. He bought one of the six Wright biplanes that were built under licence by Short Brothers and, in May 1909, Flight magazine reported that he had


generously placed his [Wright] machine at the disposal of the War Office. A shed is being erected for it by the military authorities, and a suitable ground for testing purposes has been provided.


And in February 1910 Flight again reported:


A large shed is being erected on Hounslow Heath, which is, we understand, to accommodate the Wright flyer to be used by the army officers for their aeroplane training. It is probable that the Hon. C.S. Rolls will be actively identified with the initial training of the first flying pilots of the British Army.


Lord Montagu, in his book Rolls of Rolls-Royce, disagrees with Oldham about Rolls’s loss of interest in Rolls-Royce:


It is fashionable to regard Rolls in these later years as paying only lip-service to Rolls-Royce Ltd. This is far from the truth. The work was unexciting – a steady round of meetings and demonstrations, and not at all the life to be expected of one who had been the Golden Boy of British motoring … There were no more dashes down the routes nationales, for these were unnecessary … Nevertheless, Rolls was tirelessly demonstrating Rolls-Royces up and down the country.


But even Montagu has to concede that by 1909 his contribution, if not negligible, had become erratic:


Rolls kept irregular hours. Miss Caswell remembers his disconcerting habit of appearing without warning, even at times when he had announced his intention of being absent for three weeks. He would forget appointments with the demonstration car, and his secretary would make frantic telephone calls to South Lodge … His office hours became even more erratic when he took up flying in 1909. But he carried on until the conflict of interests became irreconcilable, both to himself and his fellow-directors.


At the end of 1909, Rolls relinquished his position as technical director and moved out of Conduit Street. He remained a non-executive director.


Rolls flew his Wright biplane for the first time in early October 1909 but an accident which necessitated repair work meant he did not fly regularly until 1 November. Between then and the end of February 1910 he made more than 200 flights, some with passengers, in the two Wrights he now owned. One had been built in France, the other by Short Brothers. In March he towed the dismantled Wright behind his car to exhibit it on the Royal Aero Club stand at the Olympia Aero Show. During the show, Rolls sold the aeroplane to the War Office for £1,000 (about £100,000 today) and it was taken first to Eastchurch and then to Farnborough.


Flying was still a very new development. Nevertheless, as Montagu wrote:


1910 promised to be an auspicious year for the new movement. Already the calendar was filling up with a whole new series of important meetings. In France alone, Biarritz, Cannes, Nice, Bordeaux, Lyons, Vichy and Deauville were said to be planning aviation weeks; the Aero Club de France had given its blessing to another event at Heliopolis in Egypt; while Berlin, Budapest, Milan and St. Petersburg had announced their intention of getting into the act … Already two British municipalities – Wolverhampton and Bournemouth – were advertising aviation weeks, the latter’s to form the centrepiece of the town’s centenary celebrations.


Rolls’s main ambition in early 1910 was to emulate Bleriot’s feat of flying across the Channel. He established himself in a field near Dover in May but was constantly frustrated by the weather, either thick cloud or drifting fog. Finally, on 2 June, he made the journey not only there but back as well, and became a national hero. He was the first person to fly from England to France and the first to complete the two-way flight. The Royal Aero Club presented him with a Gold Medal, King George V sent a telegram of congratulations, and Madame Tussaud’s set in train the creation of a wax model. The press were ecstatic. The Daily Mail said:


This double crossing of the Channel is an encouraging indication that this country is waking up to the real importance of airmanship.


The Daily Chronicle, after referring to ‘a daring feat brilliantly performed’, wrote:


Mr. Rolls has wiped out a reproach which attached to us as a nation for our backwardness in the new art of aviation. [By this time, both De Lesseps and Bleriot had flown from France to England.]


The town of Dover erected a statue of Rolls on the seafront looking out towards France, sculpted by the wife of Scott of the Antarctic. (When it was unveiled in 1912, although her husband had already perished, the news had not yet reached her.)


Rolls moved on to Bournemouth, where he was due to compete with the finest aviators from Britain (Moore-Brabazon, Cecil Grace, S.F. Cody, Claude Grahame-White and Alec Ogilvie), from France (Morane, later to become famous as a builder of high-speed military aircraft, the racing driver Louis Wagner and Edmond Audemars), and from Belgium (Jean Christians, who had also made his name in motor-racing).


Rolls, while making his preparations, spoke of his plans for the future. He had been asked to train army pilots at Farnborough (the War Office was beginning to show interest in this new invention which could pose a military threat). He was planning another trip to the USA, where he expected to meet his mentors, the Wright Brothers, again. He had also discussed with friends the possibility of forming a company to build the Rolls Powered Glider, which he had designed.


But, as we know, none of this was to happen. On 12 July 1910, in a manoeuvre which necessitated landing on a chalked-out circle in front of the grandstand, Rolls brought his French-built Wright aircraft down in a steep glide and pulled the nose up sharply. His experimental tail-plane could not take the strain and disintegrated. The aeroplane plunged into the ground and Rolls died within minutes.


THE HYPHEN IN ROLLS-ROYCE


As Wilton J. Oldham said in his biography of Claude Johnson, The Hyphen in Rolls-Royce (the title was suggested to Oldham by Mike Evans, Chairman of the Rolls-Royce Heritage Trust):


In every book that deals with the early history of motoring, the name Claude Goodman Johnson appears.


Johnson was born on 24 October 1864 at Datchet in Buckinghamshire, the younger son of William Goodman Johnson who, at that time, was in the glove trade. He was one of a family of seven. After several attempts to make a business in various trades, his father eventually worked in the Science and Art department of the South Kensington Museum for a very low salary. He remained there for thirty years and, according to Oldham, ‘became an expert in the knowledge of art and many well-known connoisseurs thought highly of him’. Once established, he moved his growing family to Ealing, and to supplement his income acted as a watchman at the museum in Bethnal Green.


After school at St. Paul’s (as St. Paul’s was an expensive private school, it is likely that he won a scholarship), Claude Johnson went to the Royal College of Art. He soon realised he was no artist, but it was here that he met Sir Philip Cunliffe-Owen, who gave him his first job as a clerk at the Imperial Institute at the age of nineteen. Johnson maintained an eye for the ladies throughout his life, and he began his romantic career by eloping with Fanny Mary Morrieson. Both sets of parents were extremely angry, probably with justification, as the marriage did not work out well.


Under Cunliffe-Owen, Johnson organised a number of exhibitions, including one for Francis Galton, the cousin of Charles Darwin. (Galton, through his probability research, was one of the founders of modern theories on psychology.) Finally in 1896, the Prince of Wales, interested in these new-fangled motor cars, decided that the Imperial Institute was the place for an International Exhibition of Motors and their Appliances, and that Johnson was just the man to organise it. It was at this exhibition that the Prince enjoyed his first ride in a motor car, driven by the Hon. Evelyn Ellis. The success of the exhibition brought Johnson to the attention of the leading figures of the motoring world, and when (as we shall see later) Frederick Simms founded his Automobile Club of Great Britain (now the RAC), Johnson became the temporary secretary at a salary of £5 per week, plus ten shillings commission for each new member (this would be about £28,600 a year and £55 commission per member in today’s terms).


In the first year of the club’s existence it proved difficult to persuade people to join, despite the reduction of the annual subscription from four guineas to three (£420 to £315 in today’s terms. The annual subscription in 2000 is £670). Perhaps the club was too fussy as to whom it would take as members. As Piers Brendon put it in his book, The Motoring Century: The Story of the Royal Automobile Club:


Before the First World War motor cars were luxuries that only the prosperous could afford, so the Automobile Club attracted affluent members – an open secret of its success. ‘I doubt,’ wrote an Edwardian journalist, ‘if there be collectively a wealthier club in the world.’ But even in an age that was given to the ‘worship of wealth’, cash was supposed to be matched by cachet. The Automobile Club was a gentleman’s club. As its first full-time Secretary, Claude Johnson, said, ‘Anyone interested in automobilism is eligible for membership, though, naturally enough, we observe some social restrictions.’ This meant that candidates were blackballed if they came from the wrong side of the class divide – lacked the correct ‘background’, were too obviously ‘in trade’, had a ‘common’ appearance, ‘ran out of aitches’ and so on. Thus the Club decided that ‘a working manager was not eligible for election’. It also refused to admit ‘professional cycle riders’, one of whom was proposed by founder member S.F. Edge. Yet, as if to prove that the restrictions were elastic, Edge himself had been a professional bicycle rider (and a pugilist) before going into the car business and becoming a victorious motor-racing driver.


One of the founder members was Charles Rolls, who would sometimes take his own sandwiches into the Club dining-room. The Club retaliated by making a sixpenny table charge. Another early member was Alfred Harms-worth (later Lord Northcliffe) who, through his Daily Mail, did so much to champion motoring in its early days. He was supportive both of the Club and of Johnson, declaring that he ‘as much as any man, developed motoring in Great Britain’.


As the Club began to prosper (by the end of the century there were 540 members) and Johnson’s salary was raised to £1,000 a year, his organising ability was appreciated by everyone and he dressed the part of a successful man. Brendon wrote:


Well over six feet tall, with a cliff-like forehead, a luxuriant moustache, large capable hands and an intimidatingly taciturn air, Johnson was an impressive figure. Although never a dandy, he was very clothes-conscious and, earning ten shillings per new member on top of an annual salary that rose to £1,000, he dressed impeccably. His eldest daughter remembered ‘ginger Harris or off-white hairy tweed, white socks, silkiest of shirts, flowing yellow-and-white silk ties and, more often than not, red morocco slippers when not walking or golfing’. Johnson’s wavy brown hair was perfectly groomed and he always smelled of bay rum or eau-de-Cologne. He wore his bowler hat at a slightly rakish angle.


He and his equally handsome friend, Harmsworth, worked in tandem to promote motoring. The Daily Mail ran a series of articles in which motor cars were held up as the vehicles of the future. Johnson gave the newspaper general information but would not take payment, feeling it necessary to maintain the independence of the Club. However, in return, the Mail praised the Club and would only write about cars that submitted themselves to the Club’s tests. Harmsworth also helped Johnson with his Thousand Mile Trial, guaranteeing it financially and offering £450 in prizes. Harmsworth said later that Johnson was ‘always modest, never seeking the limelight’ and had ‘worked untiringly’ to organise ‘the first great tour of Great Britain, which did so much to prove to the public what a change was soon coming over the deserted state of our roads’.


In 1903 Johnson resigned to pursue a more lucrative career, eventually with Charles Rolls and Rolls-Royce. Brendon listed his achievements.


His powerful hand had not only held the Club together, but had driven it forward into new areas of endeavour. Johnson had negotiated agreements with foreign countries whereby members who obtained ‘triptyche’ forms could avoid complex customs formalities. He had secured the Irish Automobile Club as ‘an affiliated branch’ in 1901. He had instituted a system of vetting and licensing hotels suitable for motorists, which could display the Automobile Club sign. He had set up an Engineer’s Department to give help to members, especially those buying cars or falling victim to the new breed of ‘repairing sharks’, and to turn coachmen into chauffeurs. In 1903, too, the Touring Department was instituted to give members information about routes and places of interest. Finally, the dynamic Secretary had begun a programme (towards which Harmsworth, preoccupied by the hazard of ‘side-slips’, i.e. skids, contributed £100) of erecting green and white, diamond-shaped Control Boards at danger spots.


The partnership of Rolls and Johnson worked well when Johnson joined C.S. Rolls & Co., a company set up by Charles Rolls to sell cars. Both knew the motoring world as well as anyone else in the country, and both had excellent contacts amongst the gentry and aristocracy. As we have seen, Johnson was also a brilliant organiser. On one subject – women drivers – they agreed to differ. Rolls was in favour and was happy to give lessons to a prospective client. Johnson maintained that women’s place was in the home, and that driving was hazardous enough without adding women drivers. This was an attitude held by most male drivers for the next hundred years!


ERNEST CLAREMONT


Ernest Claremont is important in the history of Rolls-Royce in that he was Henry Royce’s first partner. Indeed, he was Royce’s only partner, as neither Rolls nor Johnson were partners of Royce in the strict sense of the word – they were co-directors in a limited company.


Claremont came from a completely different background from Royce or indeed from Rolls and Johnson. His was a large, genteel, Victorian, professional middle-class family. His father, Claude Clarke Claremont, was a surgeon, and Ernest was one of ten children born between 1853 and 1869. He was the seventh child, born on 3 February 1863 at 1 Thorney Place, Oakley Square, Camden. He was educated privately and went to University College London, though there is no evidence that he graduated. From 1880 he served as an apprentice for three years at Anglo-American Brush Electric Light Corporation, finally breaking his apprenticeship after an argument with a foreman. He may have met Henry Edmunds at Brush, as Edmunds spent some time promoting its electrical equipment. It is generally believed that Claremont met Royce in London some time in either 1881 or 1882, when Royce was working for the Electric Lighting and Power Generator Company at Bankside on the Thames. Paul Tritton, in his book The Godfather of Rolls-Royce, speculated that they may have met at Professor William Ayrton’s technical classes at the Finsbury Institute, or possibly at Ayrton’s electrical demonstrations elsewhere.


Originally, it was thought that Royce and Claremont came together in 1884 to found F.H. Royce & Co. Tom Clarke points out in his book, Ernest Claremont, that it is more likely that Royce founded the business and that Claremont came in with his £50 almost as a rescue operation. Claremont himself said that he worked at a company called Cordner, Allen & Co. in Wandsworth until the end of 1884 and Pemberton says in his biography of Royce that Claremont ‘increased subsequently by £50’ Royce’s capital. Tom Clarke also challenges the long-held belief that F.H. Royce & Co. operated immediately from Cooke Street, and shows that study of local directories suggests that the firm originally rented space in Blake Street. Those games of ‘Grab’ that we read about earlier probably took place in rooms above the Blake Street premises, as well as at Cooke Street where Royce and Claremont rigged up hammocks and cooked their meals in enamelling stoves, a practice that Claremont was to claim caused the gastric troubles that both he and Royce suffered from later in life.
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